
 

**PERSONAL AUDIO ENHANCERS ARE AVAILABLE FROM THE COUNCIL 

SECRETARY** 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR ELKHART CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

LOCATION:  CITY HALL, 2ND FLOOR, COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

February 3, 2025 

6:00 P.M. 

 

1.   Call to Order, Pledge, Moment of Silent Meditation, Roll Call 

 

2.       Minutes for Approval  

Minutes of January 6, 2025 – Council Meeting 

    

 Presentations and Introductions 

  

 Unfinished Business 

 

 Reports of Council Committees  

      

a) Ordinances on Second-Third Reading  

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-01, an ordinance appropriating Four Hundred 

Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($425,000.00) from the Riverboat Gaming 

Fund to the Other Funds Account, and authorizing the controller to transfer 

the funds to the Local Road and Bridge Matching Grant Fund 

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-02, an ordinance appropriating Seven Hundred 

Seventy-Seven Thousand Six Hundred Seventy-Two and 50/100 Dollars 

($777,672.50) from the Local Road and Bridge Matching Grant Fund for the 

2025 grant-funded contract paving project under the Community Crossings 

Matching Grant Program  

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-03, an ordinance appropriating Six Million 

Seventeen Thousand Forty-Five and 42/100 Dollars ($6,017,045.42) in 

matching funds for the Bristol Street widening project 

 

b) Ordinances and Resolutions Referred to Committees 

There are no Ordinances or Resolutions referred to committees 

 

Tabled Ordinances and Resolutions  

       There are no tabled Ordinances or Resolutions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



3.       New Business 

 

a) Ordinances on First Reading 

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-03-R, an ordinance appropriating Four Million 

Six Hundred Fifty Thousand Three Hundred Thirty-Seven Dollars 

($4,650,337.00) in matching funds for the Bristol Street Widening Project 

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-04, an ordinance amending Section 5.5 of 

Ordinance No. 5746, as amended, to update the Local Pollutant Limitations as 

Proscribed by the United States Environmental Protection Agency 

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-05, an ordinance amending the Zoning Map 

created pursuant to Ordinance No. 4370, the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana” as amended, to rezone 2807 Cassopolis Street, Elkhart, 

Indiana from B-3, Services Business District and M-1, Limited Manufacturing 

District to B-3, Services Business District 

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-06, an ordinance vacating the East/West Alley 

located between Thomas Street and Fremont Street and the North/South Alley 

between Indiana Avenue and Lafayette Street, a Public Way within the City of 

Elkhart, Indiana 

 

6. Resolutions 

Proposed Resolution 25-R-01, a resolution of the Common Council of the City 

of Elkhart, Indiana honoring Firefighter Adam J. Kuspa for his dedication, 

service, and contribution to the Elkhart City Fire Department and Community 

 

7. Vacation Hearings 

There are no vacation hearings. 

       

8. Other New Business 

Re-appointment for Redevelopment Commission & Aurora Capital Development 

Commission 

 Re-appointment for Elkhart Urban Enterprise Association Board 

 

9. Reports of Mayor, Board of Works, Board of Safety or City Departments 

 

10. Neighborhood Association Report 

 

11. Privilege of the Floor 

            Please limit your comments to 3 minutes to allow others time to comment 

 

12. Scheduling of Committee Meetings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



13.       Acceptance of Communications 

  Minutes of December 10, 2024 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

  Minutes of December 10, 2024 – Board of Public Safety 

  Minutes of January 14, 2025 – Board of Public Safety 

  Minutes of December 27, 2024 – Board of Public Works 

  Minutes of January 7, 2025 – Board of Public Works 

  Minutes of November 14, 2024 – Board of Zoning Appeals 

Minutes of November 21, 2024 – Elkhart Historic & Cultural Preservation 

Commission 

 Minutes of December 10, 2024 – Elkhart Redevelopment Commission  

 Minutes of October 21, 2024 – Elkhart Urban Enterprise Zone 

 Minutes of December 16, 2024 – Elkhart Urban Enterprise Zone   

  Minutes of December 11, 2024 – Lerner Theatre Board 

  Report – Month End December 2024 –Elkhart Communication Center  

  

 

 Adjournment 

 



DRAFT 
 

 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR COMMON COUNCIL MEETING 

OF JANUARY 6, 2025 

 

Present: Council President Arvis Dawson 

Council Members Alex Holtz, Brent Curry, LaTonya King, Aaron Mishler, 

Dwight Fish, Tonda Hines, Chad Crabtree, David Henke  

 

Absent: None 

 

This meeting was made available to the public electronically through WebEx. 

 

President Dawson called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the Council Chambers at City Hall, 

229 S. Second Street, in Elkhart.  All Council Members were present in Council Chambers. 

  

Assistant Fire Chief Kristi Sommers led the assembly in the Pledge of Allegiance. President 

Dawson asked for a moment of silent reflection.   

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to call the roll.   

 

 

NOMINATIONS OF 2025 COUNCIL OFFICERS 

 

Council President, Arvis Dawson opened the nominations for council president. 

 

Councilwoman Hines nominated Arvis Dawson. Second by Councilman Mishler. 

 

President Dawson asked if there were any other nominations, there were none. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote for Arvis Dawson as the 2025 Council 

President. 

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Dawson  

NAYS: Henke  

 

By a vote of 8-1, Arvis Dawson is the new 2025 Council President. 

 

President Dawson opened the nominations for Vice President. 

 

Councilman Curry nominated Councilman Fish. Second by Councilman Holtz. 

 

President Dawson asked if there were any other nominations, there were none. 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to do a roll call vote for Dwight Fish for the 2025 Council 

Vice President. 

 



2 

 

 

AYES: Holtz, Curry, King, Mishler, Fish, Hines, Crabtree, Dawson  

NAYS: Henke  

 

By a vote of 8-1, Councilman Dwight Fish is the new 2025 Council Vice President. 

 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion and second to approve the minutes from the December 16, 

2024, Council Meeting.   

 

Motion made by Councilman Henke, second by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the minutes were approved.  

 

PRESENTATIONS AND INTRODUCTIONS 

Presentations begin at 37 minutes and 45 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Dr. Breanna Allen, Executive Director, Tolson Center said they are grateful to be able to give 

an overview of the past year for the Tolson Center for Community Excellence. There are 4,000 

members who are mostly from the Elkhart area and they see about 200 people a day who are 

participating in their programs. (They have over 35 program partners in various areas that help 

serve the community with a large variety of programs.) They are working on Phase II of the 

Tolson Center, which will include a soccer field, basketball courts, an ADA accessible 

playground and other structures. They anticipate Phase II to cost approximately $3.1 Million 

Dollars of which the Tolson Center will  cover the cost. They will be having a fundraiser on 

February 14, Valentine’s Day entitled, Falling in Love with Tolson Soiree, which will be held at 

the Tolson Center and all proceeds will support the operations and programs of the Tolson 

Center. Their goal is to raise $40,000 from this event. A handout was passed out that is included 

in the minutes of this meeting which shows statistics and some of the highlights of the successes 

of the Tolson Center. 

 

President Dawson asked if there were any questions. 

 

Councilman Henke asked what the operational overhead was for 2024. President Dawson 

replied, the information that is requested can be obtained by himself or Councilman Fish. 

Councilman Henke said if they can provide the revenue amount for 2024 and the projected 

revenue amount for 2025 and the total operational cost for 2024 and the projected operational 

cost for 2025, it would let them know how things are going.   

 

Councilman Mishler said as a public health nurse the Tolson Center has been very gracious in 

allowing the Indiana Department of Health to operate out of the Center on several occasions to 

help provide vaccinations for the community, for which they are thankful. They are also looking 

forward to seeing how the Tolson Center will grow and thrive as the Benham Neighborhood Plan 

starts coming together. 

 

 

 



3 

 

 

Dr. Breana Allen said in October of 2024, the Tolson Center was submitted to the state of 

Indiana, Accelerated Indiana Municipalities hereafter AIM for a state level recognition award 

and they received the Program Innovation Award, which is a true testament to the collaborative 

spirit that is within the community.  

 

Mayor Rod Roberson said Breana articulated clearly the kind of collaborative spirit that Tolson 

has demonstrated over the last year and this award is representative of that collaboration. AIM 

gives a Program Innovation Award every year to Class One, Class Two and Class Three Cities. 

Elkhart won the award for Tolson’s innovative relationship that it has the community for the 

Class Two Cities. There is only one given across the state for Class Two Cities. He said that 

Elkhart always “punches above its weight” and this is a perfect example.  The Tolson Center is a 

catalyst for the kind of redevelopment and the activities they are looking to achieve with the 

Benham Neighborhood Plan. This is similar to the model that they have created in the River 

District with the Aquatic Center. This is a perfect opportunity to move multiple different 

relationships to a space that allows them to redevelop and grow the community as a whole. He 

thanked those from the Tolson that were in the audience.  This is only the start of what it is going 

to become going forward and he is thankful for the hard work that is being done at the Tolson 

Center to further that goal. 

 

President Dawson said the information Councilman Henke is requesting is something that can 

be provided in their monthly packet so the Council can be informed of what is going on. The 

leadership at the Tolson Center with Breana and their staff is outstanding. The connections that 

have been made with the community and collaboration with other non-profits have been 

phenomenal and everyone who is not a member of the Tolson Center should become a member, 

it is free to join. 

 

Presentation ends at 53 minutes and 11 seconds of the audio recording 

 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 

There was no unfinished business. 

 

 

REPORTS OF COUNCIL COMMITTEES 

 

There were no reports. 

 

 

ORDINANCES ON SECOND-THIRD READING 

 

There were no ordinances on second-third reading. 

 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS REFERRED TO COMMITTEES 

 

There are no ordinances or resolutions referred to committees. 

 

 



4 

 

 

TABLED ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS 

 

There are no tabled ordinances or resolutions. 

 

 

ORDINANCES ON FIRST READING 

 

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-01 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FOUR HUNDRED TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND 

DOLLARS ($425,000.00) FROM THE RIVERBOAT GAMING FUND TO OTHER 

FUNDS ACCOUNT, AND AUTHORIZING THE CONTROLLER TO TRANSFER THE 

FUNDS TO THE LOCAL ROAD AND BRIDGE MATCHING GRANT FUND 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  If there are no 

objections this will move to second reading. 

 

There was no objection; proposed ordinance moved on to second reading. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-02 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING SEVEN HUNDRED SEVENTY-SEVEN 

THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED SEVENTY-TWO AND 50\100 DOLLARS ($777.672.50) 

FROM THE LOCAL ROAD AND BRIDGE MATCHING GRANT FUND FOR THE 2025 

GRANT-FUNDED CONTRACT PAVING PROJECT UNDER THE COMMUNITY 

CROSSINGS MATCHING GRANT PROGRAM 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  If there are no 

objections this will move to second reading. 

 

There was no objection; proposed ordinance moved on to second reading. 

 

Proposed Ordinance 25-O-03 

 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING SIX MILLION SEVENTEEN THOUSAND 

FORTY-FIVE AND 42\100 DOLLARS ($6,017,045.42) IN MATCHING FUNDS FOR 

THE BRISTOL STREET WIDENING PROJECT 

 

President Dawson asked the clerk to read the proposed ordinance by title only.  If there are no 

objections this will move to second reading. 

 

There was no objection; proposed ordinance moved on to second reading. 

 

 

RESOLUTIONS 

 

There are no resolutions. 

 



5 

 

VACATION HEARINGS 

 

There are no Vacation Hearings. 

 

 

OTHER NEW BUSINESS 

President Dawson opened the discussion starting at 55 minutes and 07 seconds of the audio 

recording. 

 

Councilman Henke said all Council members received a letter from Mr. Mark Troyer and they 

are aware of his concerns. He said he had talked with Mike Huber from Development Services 

and they went out and looked at the property and the site and they believe there are options. It is 

a large property and there is legal access to be aware of, but it would be nice to take into 

consideration the issues the Troyer’s mentioned and let them be a part of the planning in that 

area. He also wanted the Council to know that he did speak with Chief Milanese and the Chief 

has the information that he requested. He is still waiting on information on the Middlebury Street 

school and what is happening there as the promise of development there has not occurred. He 

alerted the Mayor’s office and other officials in regards to issues at the Concord Mall. He also 

said he has not received information yet on the number of infants delivered by police and fire 

departments and would like to receive that information. 

 

Councilman Mishler said the weather is getting colder and he wanted to make sure the 

community knows if they need shelter to visit Faith Mission as they offer emergency shelter 

during the cold weather. The City has decided to allow the community to participate in naming 

of their new Zamboni. The information on how to participate is on the Parks Department 

Facebook page. He hopes people participate as it is a fun activity for the community. 

 

New Business discussion ends at 57 minutes and 49 seconds of the audio recording. 

 

 

REPORTS OF MAYOR, BOARD OF WORKS, BOARD OF SAFETY OR CITY 

DEPARTMENTS 

 

There were no reports. 

 

 

NEIGHBORHOOD ASSOCIATION REPORTS 

President Dawson opened the Neighborhood Association Reports starting at 57 minutes and 51 

seconds of the audio recording. 

 

Councilman Curry said the Pierre Moran Neighborhood Association met on January 5, 2025 at 

the Pierre Moran Park Pavilion at 5:00 p.m. The Neighborhood Association discussed 

maintaining the property values by keeping up with the maintenance of the neighborhood. They 

discussed parking during the winter months so the streets are clear to be plowed effectively. 

They also discussed the planning of the changes at Woodland Crossing. Having served on the 

Redevelopment Commission for 16 years he understand how the process works and knows the 

plans are not a done deal yet and things can change. 

 

Neighborhood Association discussion ends at 59 minutes and 22 seconds of the audio recording. 



6 

 

 

PRIVILEGE OF THE FLOOR 

 

There was no one who spoke. 

 

 

SCHEDULING OF COMMITTEE MEETINGS 

 

There are no meetings to schedule. 

 

 

ACCEPTANCE OF COMMUNICATIONS 

Minutes November 12, 2024 – Aurora Capital Development Corporation 

Minutes of November 27, 2024 – Board of Aviation Commissioners Meeting 

Minutes of December 3, 2024 – Board of Public Works 

Minutes of December 17, 2024 – Board of Public Works 

Minutes of October 10, 2024 – Board of Zoning Appeals 

Minutes of August 15, 2024 – City of Elkhart Stormwater Board Meeting 

Minutes of October 17, 2024 – City of Elkhart Stormwater Board Meeting 

Minutes of November 12, 2024 – Elkhart Redevelopment Commission 

Minutes of November 20, 2024 – Elkhart Redevelopment Commission – Special Meeting 

Report – Month End November 2024 – Elkhart Communications Center 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to approve the communications.  Motion made by 

Councilwoman King, second by Councilman Mishler. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote, the Acceptance of Communications passed.   

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

President Dawson asked for a motion to adjourn.  Motion made by Councilman Mishler, second 

by Councilwoman Hines. 

 

By a unanimous voice vote the meeting was adjourned.   

 

 

_______________________________  ________________________________ 

Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk   Arvis L. Dawson 

                  President of the Elkhart City Council 



M E M O R A N D U M

Date: December 9, 2024 

To: Arvis Dawson, Elkhart City Council President  

From: Tory Irwin, Director of Public Works 

RE: 2025 Grant-Funded Contract Paving Project 

This appropriation request is for the 2025 Grant-Funded Contract Paving project.  In 2024 the City was 
awarded 2 Phases of Community Crossing Matching Grant (CCMG).  The spring phase did not exhaust the 
entire allotment that was allowed, due to bids coming back lower than expected.  Engineering then applied 
for the 2024 Phase 2 grant in the fall, and was awarded the remainder of our yearly allotment.  

The paving project will include: 

 Bristol from Cassopolis to Osolo;
 Lear Court and Lear Drive;
 Park Six Court and Park Six Drive.

The City applied for and received a grant of $352,672.50 from INDOT, which is 50% of the estimated cost 
of the work. The City is responsible for the 50% local match and any contingency, for a total appropriation 
of $775,000.00. A map of the streets is below. 

 CCMG INDOT Award $352,672.50 
 CCMG Local Match plus Contingency $425,000.00 
 Total $777,672.50 

Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-01



Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-01 
 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FOUR HUNDRED TWENTY-FIVE THOUSAND 
DOLLARS ($425,000.00) FROM THE RIVERBOAT GAMING FUND TO OTHER 

FUNDS ACCOUNT, AND AUTHORIZING THE CONTROLLER TO TRANSFER THE 
FUNDS TO THE LOCAL ROAD AND BRIDGE MATCHING GRANT FUND  

___________________________________ 
 

WHEREAS, the Indiana Department of Transportation awarded the City of Elkhart 

(“City”) a matching grant under the Community Crossings Grant Program to assist the City with 

the 2025 Grant-Funded Contract Paving Project to resurface three (3) targeted areas which are in 

need of resurfacing, namely: 1) Bristol, from Cassopolis to Osolo; 2) Lear Court and Lear Drive; 

and 3) Park Six Court and Park Six Drive; and  

WHEREAS, the estimated cost of the resurfacing project total Seven Hundred Seventy-

Seven Thousand Six Hundred Seventy-Two and 50/100 Dollars ($777,672.50); and 

WHEREAS the State of Indiana awarded the City of Elkhart, the sum of Three Hundred 

Fifty-Two Thousand Six Hundred Seventy-Two and 25/100 Dollars ($352,672.50) under the 

Community Crossings Matching Grant (CCMG) program to cover the qualified costs of the City’s 

2025 Grant-Funded Contract Paving Project; and 

WHEREAS, the Community Crossings Matching Grant Program requires a local match of 

no less than fifty percent (50%) of the grant-qualified project costs; and  

WHEREAS, the City Administration represents to the Common Council that 

approximately Four Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($425,000.00) is needed meet City’s 

fifty percent (50%) match, plus twenty percent (20%), estimated for inflationary increases, 

unanticipated change-orders, and for work which does not qualify for the state-match, but which 

is appropriately performed at the same time as the qualified work; and  



Page 2 of 3 

WHEREAS, the Administration represents that Riverboat Gaming Fund contains sums, 

sufficient and available to fund the Four Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($425,000.00) 

needed to fulfill the City’s the financial obligations under the Community Crossings Grant 

Program, and for reasonable contingencies, to receive the matching state-grant funds, under the 

2025 Grant-Funded Contract Paving Project; and  

WHEREAS, the Administration request that Common Council appropriate Four Hundred 

Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($425,000.00) from the Riverboat Gaming Fund to the To Other 

Funds Account, and authorized the City Controller to transfer the funds to the Local Road and 

Bridge Matching Grant Fund for the 2025 Grant-Funded Contract Paving project under the 

Community Crossings Grant Program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

 Section 1.  The amount of Four Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($425,000.00) be, 

and hereby is, appropriated from the Riverboat Fund (2235) to: 

 Account No.2235-5-000-452000  To Other Funds $425,000.00 

 Section 2.  The Controller of the City of Elkhart is authorized to transfer the Four Hundred 

Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($425,000.00) from the To Other Funds account to the Local Road 

and Bridge Matching Grant Fund (4501); and 

 Section 3.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, _____, at 

6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 



Page 3 of 3 

 Section 4.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law. 

SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this  day of    ,    

at_________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



M E M O R A N D U M

Date: December 9, 2024 

To: Arvis Dawson, Elkhart City Council President  

From: Tory Irwin, Director of Public Works 

RE: 2025 Grant-Funded Contract Paving Project 

This appropriation request is for the 2025 Grant-Funded Contract Paving project.  In 2024 the City was 
awarded 2 Phases of Community Crossing Matching Grant (CCMG).  The spring phase did not exhaust the 
entire allotment that was allowed, due to bids coming back lower than expected.  Engineering then applied 
for the 2024 Phase 2 grant in the fall, and was awarded the remainder of our yearly allotment.  

The paving project will include: 

 Bristol from Cassopolis to Osolo;
 Lear Court and Lear Drive;
 Park Six Court and Park Six Drive.

The City applied for and received a grant of $352,672.50 from INDOT, which is 50% of the estimated cost 
of the work. The City is responsible for the 50% local match and any contingency, for a total appropriation 
of $775,000.00. A map of the streets is below. 

 CCMG INDOT Award $352,672.50 
 CCMG Local Match plus Contingency $425,000.00 
 Total $777,672.50 

Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-02



Page 1 of 3 

Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-02 
 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING SEVEN HUNDRED SEVENTY-SEVEN 
THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED SEVENTY-TWO AND 50/100 DOLLARS ($777,672.50) 

FROM THE LOCAL ROAD AND BRIDGE MATCHING GRANT FUND FOR THE 2025 
GRANT-FUNDED CONTRACT PAVING PROJECT UNDER THE COMMUNITY 

CROSSINGS MATCHING GRANT PROGRAM 
___________________________________ 

 
WHEREAS the Indiana Department of Transportation awarded the City of Elkhart (“City”) 

a matching grant under the Community Crossings Matching Grant Program to assist the City with 

the 2025 Grant-Funded Contract Paving Project to resurface three (3) targeted areas which are in 

need of resurfacing, namely: 1) Bristol from Cassopolis to Osolo; 2) Lear Court and Lear Drive; 

and 3) Park Six Court and Park Six Drive; and 

WHEREAS the estimated cost of the resurfacing project total Seven Hundred Seventy-

Seven Thousand Six Hundred Seventy-Two and 50/100 Dollars ($777,672.50); and 

WHEREAS the State of Indiana awarded the City of Elkhart, the sum of Three Hundred 

Fifty-Two Thousand Six Hundred Seventy-Two and 25/100 Dollars ($352,672.50) under the 

Community Crossings Matching Grant Program to cover the qualified costs of the City’s 2025 

Grant-Funded Contract Paving Project; and 

WHEREAS the Community Crossings Grant Program requires a local match of no less 

than fifty percent (50%) of the grant-qualified project costs; and  

WHEREAS the Common Council of the City of Elkhart has appropriated concurrent with 

this ordinance the sum of Four Hundred Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($425,000.00) from the 

Riverboat Fund to the Other Funds Account, and authorized the City Controller to transfer the 

funds to the Local Road and Bridge Matching Grant Fund for the 2025 Grant-Funded Contract 

Paving project under the Community Crossings Grant Program; and  



Page 2 of 3 

WHEREAS the Indiana Department of Local Government Finance and State Board of 

Accounts require that all funds intended for use under the Community Crossings Matching Grant 

Program, namely, Seven Hundred Seventy-Seven Thousand Six Hundred Seventy-Two and 

50/100 Dollars ($777,672.50), be appropriated from the Local Road and Bridge Matching Grant 

Fund; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

 Section 1.  Seven Hundred Seventy-Seven Thousand Six Hundred Seventy-Two and 

50/100 Dollars ($777,672.50) be, and hereby is, appropriated from the Local Road and Bridge 

Matching Grant Fund (4501) to: 

 Account No. 4501-5-250-3361000 State Grant Expenditures $777,672.50 

 Section 2.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, _____, at 

6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 

 Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law. 

  



Page 3 of 3 

 

SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this    day of    , 

 ,  at _________ a.m./p.m.  

 

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



  Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-03-R 

Page 1 of 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
DATE:  Original December 12, 2024 
  Revised January 8, 2025 
 
TO:  Arvis Dawson, President 

City of Elkhart Common Council 
  
FROM: Tory Irwin, Director of Public Works 

Jeffrey Schaffer, Engineering 
 
RE: Local Match and Appropriation Request for Bristol Street Widening Project 
 
 
On December 11, 2024, INDOT accepted bids for the Bristol Street Widening Project.  Those bids are 
attached; Rieth-Riley Construction Company Inc. is the apparent low bidder with a proposed contract price 
of $11,311,285. 
 
In addition, the City has received a contract proposal from American Structurepoint, Inc. (ASI), for the 
Construction Engineering (Inspection), with a contract price of $1,246,948. 
 
This is an LPA project.  The project was originally awarded $6,672,000 in Federal Highway funds for 
Construction and Construction Engineering.  In late December 2024, MACOG secured an additional 
$1,592,934 in Federal Highway funds for Construction and Construction Engineering, for a total 
Federal contribution of $8,264,934. 
 
Based on the above, the Local Match and Requested Appropriation for the project is as follows: 
 

Construction Contract $11,311,285 Rieth-Riley Bid 

Construction Contingency $791,790 7% of Bid 

Construction Engineering $1,246,948 ASI Contract 

Federal Highway Funds ($8,264,934) MACOG 

Remaining Previously 
Appropriated Funds ($434,752) PO #24-00721 

Local Match and 
Appropriation Request $4,650,337  

 
Under the LPA process, the Local Match is paid to INDOT; INDOT then manages the project and pays the 
Contractor. 
 





Page 1 of 3 

 Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-03-R 
 

ORDINANCE NO.     
 

AN ORDINANCE APPROPRIATING FOUR MILLION SIX HUNDRED FIFTY 
THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED THIRTY-SEVEN DOLLARS ($4,650,337.00) IN 

MATCHING FUNDS FOR THE BRISTOL STREET WIDENING PROJECT 
_________________________________________________ 

WHEREAS, the Indiana Department of Transportation (INDOT) informed the City of 

Elkhart Department of Engineering that the apparent low bidder for the Bristol Street widening 

project is Reith-Riley Construction Company, Inc. on a bid of Eleven Million Three Hundred 

Eleven Thousand Two Hundred Eighty-five Dollars ($11,311,285.00); and  

WHEREAS, the City of Elkhart previously received Six Million Six Hundred Seventy-

Two Thousand Dollars ($6.672,000.00) as a Local Public Agency (LPA) grant from the U.S. 

Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration (USDOT FHA) through the 

Michiana Area Council of Governments (MACOG) for the Bristol Street Widening Project; and 

WHEREAS, in December 2024, the Michiana Area Council of Governments (MACOG) 

informed the City that MACOG secured an additional amount of One Million Five Hundred 

Ninety-Two Thousand Nine Hundred Thirty-Four Dollars ($1,592,934.00) in USDOT FHA funds 

for a total federal contribution of Eight Million Two Hundred Sixty-Four Thousand Nine Hundred 

Thirty-Four Dollars ($8,264,934.00) for the project; and 

WHEREAS, the terms of the in USDOT FHA grant, the City must fund, no less than twenty 

percent (20%) of the construction costs, and must fund all non-construction project costs, which, 

after deducting the remaining balance of previously appropriated monies, leaving a local obligation 

of Four Million Six Hundred Fifty Thousand Three Hundred Thirty-Seven Dollars 

($4,650,337.00); and  



Page 2 of 3 

WHEREAS, under the grant terms, the FHA requires that all project funds be paid to the 

Indiana Department of Transportation which manages the project, including the payment of all 

project contractors; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

 Section 1.  The amount Four Million Six Hundred Fifty Thousand Three Hundred Thirty-

Seven Dollars ($4,650,337.00), be and hereby is, appropriated from the Elkhart Capital Outlay 

Fund and applied to the following account line:  

 Account No. 4650-5-000-4430000 Infrastructure   $4,650,337.00 

 Section 2.  The City Controller is hereby authorized to pay the local obligation matching 

grant funds to the Indiana Department of Transportation, for use pursuant to the terms of the U.S. 

Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration (FHA) Local Public Agency grant 

for the Bristol Street Widening Project. 

 Section 3.  The Common Council has fixed the ____ day of ________________, ______, 

at 6:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, as the date, time and place when the Common Council will 

consider and determine the appropriation, and all taxpayers and interested persons will have the 

opportunity to appear and express their views. 

 Section 3.  This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor, as provided by law, and shall continue into successive years, 

provided the project is ongoing, and the funds appropriated herein, have not been exhausted. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

  



Page 3 of 3 

SO ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this    day of    ,  , 

at _________ a.m./p.m.  

          
    Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

 

Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 

 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 



Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-04 
 

 

 

 

M E M O R A N D U M  

Date January 2, 2024 
To Common Council  
From Bryan Cress, Regulatory Compliance Manager 
RE Local Pollutant Limitations Update 

The City operates a sewer system and wastewater treatment plant for the benefit of the citizens of 
Elkhart. As part of operating this system, the City is required to impose limitations on the amount 
of certain chemicals that are discharged into the sewers. The limits are calculated to ensure the 
sewer system and wastewater treatment plant operate correctly. The United States Environmental 
Protection Agency is requiring the proposed changes and has reviewed and approved the limits.  

Accordingly, the Public Works and Utilities Department requests the Common Council amend 
Section 5.5 of the Wastewater Utility Use Ordinance, entitled Local Pollutant Limitations. 

A redline version of the proposed changes is included on the next page. 

  

  



     Proposed Ordinance 25-O-05





Page 1 of 5 
 

Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-05 

ORDINANCE NO.    

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP CREATED 
PURSUANT TO ORDINANCE NO. 4370, THE “ZONING ORDINANCE OF THE CITY 
OF ELKHART, INDIANA” AS AMENDED, TO REZONE 2807 CASSOPOLIS STREET, 

ELKHART, INDIANA FROM B-3, SERVICES BUSINESS DISTRICT AND M-1, 
LIMITED MANUFACTURING DISTRICT TO B-3, SERVICES BUSINESS DISTRICT 

 
WHEREAS, on July 20, 1998, the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana (the 

“Common Council”) adopted Ordinance No. 4370 (the “Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, 

Indiana”), creating the zoning map that established the zoning districts for all real estate located 

within the corporate boundaries of the City of Elkhart (commonly referred to as the “Zoning 

Map”); and 

WHEREAS, the real estate located at 2807 Cassopolis Street; Elkhart IN 46514 (the “Real 

Estate”), is zoned both, B-3, Services Business District, and M-1, Limited Manufacturing District; 

and 

WHEREAS, the owner of the Real Estate petitioned the Elkhart City Plan Commission, 

requesting an amendment to the Zoning Map to zone the entirety of the Real Estate as, B-3, 

Business Services, for redeveloped as a drive thru coffee shop; and 

WHEREAS, the intended use of the Real Estate is not a permitted use, unless that portion 

of the subject Real Estate that is currently zoned, M-1, Limited Manufacturing District, is rezoned 

B-3, Services Business District, and thereby allowing the owner’s intended use; and  

WHEREAS, the rezoning, as petitioned, remains compatible with the adjacent properties 

and reflects responsible growth and development; and  

WHEREAS, on January 6, 2025, the Elkhart City Plan Commission conducted a public 

hearing on the petition to amend the Zoning Map for the purpose stated herein and voted to forward 

to this Council, the Commission’s “Do Pass” recommendation. 



Page 2 of 5 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA that 

Section 1. The zoning map created pursuant to and incorporated into Ordinance No. 4370, 

as amended, the Zoning Ordinance of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, is hereby amended to rezone as 

B-3, Busines Services District, the entirety of the real estate, commonly known as 2807 Cassopolis 

Street, in the City of Elkhart, County of Elkhart, State of Indiana, said property being particularly 

described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein. 

Section 2. Effective Date.  This ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and 

after its passage by the Common Council. 

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.]



Page 3 of 5 
 

Exhibit A 

Description of Real Property 

Address(s):  

Parcel Identification Number(s): 

Legal Description: 
 
A PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (1/4) OF SECTION TWENTY (20), TOWNSHIP 
THIRTY-EIGHT (38) NORTH, RANGE FIVE (5) EAST, MORE PARTICULARLY 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING ON THE WEST LINE OF SAID QUARTER SECTION AT A POINT ONE 
HUNDRED FIFTY-SEVEN (157) FEET NORTH OF A STONE AT THE SOUTHWEST 
CORNER OF SAID QUARTER SECTION; THENCE EASTWARDLY, PARALLEL WITH THE 
SOUTH LINE OF SAID QUARTER SECTION, TO A POINT THAT IS FOUR HUNDRED 
NINETY-TWO (492) FEET WEST OF THE CENTERLINE OF THE CASSOPOLIS ROAD FOR 
THE BEGINNING POINT OF THIS DESCRIPTION; THENCE NORTH PARALLEL WITH 
THE WEST LINE OF SAID QUARTER SECTION, ONE HUNDRED FIVE AND TWENTY-
FOUR HUNDREDTHS (105.24) FEET TO THE SOUTH LINE OF COMET AVENUE; THENCE 
EASTWARDLY, PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID QUARTER SECTION AND 
ALONG THE SOUTH LINE OF COMET AVENUE, TO THE CENTERLINE OF CASSOPOLIS 
ROAD; THENCE SOUTHWARDLY ALONG THE CENTERLINE OF SAID CASSOPOLIS 
ROAD, ONE HUNDRED FIVE AND THIRTY-NINE HUNDREDTHS (105.39) FEET; THENCE 
WESTWARDLY PARALLEL WITH THE SOUTH LINE OF SAID QUARTER SECTION, 
FOUR HUNDRED NINETY-TWO (492) FEET TO THE PLACE OF BEGINNING. SUBJECT 
TO PUBLIC HIGHWAYS.  

EXCEPTING THEREFROM THE FOLLOWING: A PART OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER 
OF SECTION 20, TOWNSHIP 38 NORTH, RANGE 5 EAST, ELKHART COUNTY, INDIANA, 
DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS:  

COMMENCING AT THE SOUTHWEST CORNER OF SAID QUARTER SECTION; THENCE 
NORTH 0 DEGREES 07 MINUTES 14 SECONDS EAST 262.24 FEET (DISTANCE DEDUCED 
FROM DEED RECORD 251, PAGE 146) ALONG THE WEST LINE OF SAID QUARTER 
SECTION TO THE SOUTH BOUNDARY OF COMET AVENUE; THENCE SOUTH 89 
DEGREES 27 MINUTES 46 SECONDS EAST 800.37 FEET ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF 
COMET AVENUE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING OF THIS DESCRIPTION, WHICH POINT 
OF BEGINNING IS ON THE WEST BOUNDARY OF S.R. 19 (CASSOPOLIS ROAD); 
THENCE SOUTH 2 DEGREES 30 MINUTES 46 SECONDS EAST 105.39 FEET ALONG THE 

2807 Cassopolis Street; Elkhart IN 46514 

20-02-20-454-018.000-027 



Page 4 of 5 
 

BOUNDARY OF SAID S.R. 19 TO THE NORTH LINE OF  ¾ ACRE TRACT OF LAND 
SHOWN ON THE PLAT OF LAKE DRIVE A SUBDIVISION IN SAID QUARTER SECTION 
RECORDED IN PLAT BOOK 3, PAGE 24, IN THE OFFICE OF THE RECORDER OF SAID 
COUNTY; THENCE NORTH 89 DEGREES 27 MINUTES 46 SECONDS WEST 20.24 FEET 
ALONG SAID NORTH LINE; THENCE NORTH 2 DEGREES 40 MINUTES 26 SECONDS 
WEST 85.32 FEET; THENCE NORTH 41 DEGREES 36 MINUTES 36 SECONDS WEST 27.05 
FEET TO THE SOUTH BOUNDARY OF SAID COMET AVENUE; THENCE SOUTH 89 
DEGREES 27 MINUTES 46 SECONDS EAST 37.56 FEET ALONG THE BOUNDARY OF 
SAID COMET AVENUE TO THE POINT OF BEGINNING.  

[Balance of page is intentionally blank.] 

 

  



Page 5 of 5 
 

So ORDAINED this    day of    ,   . 
 
           
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this    day of    ,  , 

 at _________ a.m./p.m.  

           
     Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
Approved by me this    day of    ,   . 
 
 
           
     Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 
ATTEST: 
 
      
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 





















Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-06 

Page 1 of 1 

M E M O R A N D U M

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

RE: 

January 9, 2025 

Common Council 

Corporation Counsel John M. Espar 

Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-06 

Vacation Petition No. 24-V-02 

Department of Public Works & Utilities for the City of Elkhart, Petitioner 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING THE EAST/WEST ALLEY LOCATED BETWEEN THOMAS 
STREET AND FREMONT STREET ANDTHE NORTH/SOUTH ALLEY BETWEEN INDIANA 
AVENUE AND LAFAYETTE STREET, A PUBLIC WAY OF WITHIN THE CITY OF ELKHART, 
INDIANA 

Petitioner, Department of Public Works & Utilities for the City of Elkhart, filed a petition to vacate 
the East/West alley located between Thomas Street and Fremont Street and the North/South alley 
between Indiana Avenue and Lafayette Street, a public way.  
This Council received the petition and acknowledged receipt at the public meeting held on 
December 2, 2024. 
Proposed Ordinance No. 25-O-06 presents to the Council for its consideration, an ordinance to 
grant the petition, vacate the public way, while preserving any easements for any public utilities 
situated within the vacated property. 
A public hearing is required on the proposed ordinance, which, allowing sufficient time for 
publication of notice of the public hearing, may be conducted, on March 3, 2025, in conjunction 
with the second reading of the proposed ordinance. 
For your consideration, I have included with this packet item, the property owner’s petition and 
related materials which were previously provided to the Council by the City Clerk. I have also 
included the City Clerk’s notice to all interested parties of the petition for vacation, together with 
any written responses received by the Clerk in connection with the petition.



Page 1 of 9 

Proposed Ordinance No.  25-O-06 

ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

AN ORDINANCE VACATING THE EAST/WEST ALLEY LOCATED BETWEEN 
THOMAS STREET AND FREMONT STREET ANDTHE NORTH/SOUTH ALLEY 

BETWEEN INDIANA AVENUE AND LAFAYETTE STREET, A PUBLIC WAY 
WITHIN THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA  

_______________________________________ 

WHEREAS, a municipality has the exclusive right to vacate any street, alley or other public 

way within its corporate boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code 36-7-3-12, permits a person who owns or has an interest in any 

lot or partial lot, and who wants to vacate all or part of a public way or public place contiguous to 

the lot, to file a petition for vacation with the legislative body of a municipality within whose 

corporate boundaries all or any part of the public place or way is located; and 

WHEREAS, Department of Public Works & Utilities for the City of Elkhart, (the 

“Petitioner”) is the owner of  the real property which is contiguous to all or part of the public way 

generally described as the East/West alley located between Thomas Street and Fremont Street and 

the North/South alley between Indiana Avenue and Lafayette Street, a public way within the City 

of Elkhart, Indiana; and  



Page 2 of 9 

WHEREAS, Petitioner filed Vacation Petition No. 24-V-02 with the Common Council of 

the City of Elkhart (the “Common Council”) requesting that the Council vacate the public way 

generally described as the East/West alley located between Thomas Street and Fremont Street and 

the North/South alley between Indiana Avenue and Lafayette Street, in the City of Elkhart, Indiana, 

and 

WHEREAS, Indiana Code 36-1-11-4.3 provides that a sale or transfer of a land containing 

a public easement or right of way does not deprive a public utility of the use of all or part of the 

public easement or right of way that is sold or transferred if, at the time of the sale or transfer, the 

public utility is occupying and using all or part of that public easement or right of way for the 

location and operation of its facilities; and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to Indiana Code 36-7-3-12, the Common Council held a public 

hearing on March 3, 2025, at which time information was presented by the Petitioner supporting 

the petition to vacate said public way and by any interested parties, including any aggrieved 

persons objecting to it. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, THAT: 

Section 1. After considering the information presented at the public hearing, together 

with the information submitted to the Council in connection with the petition and any other 

information presented at the public hearing and any subsequent public meeting of the Council, the 

Common Council hereby finds and determines: 

A. That the vacation will not hinder the growth or orderly development of the unit or

neighborhood in which it is located or to which it is contiguous; and 



 
Page 3 of 9 

B. That the vacation will not make access to the lands of any aggrieved person by 

means of public way difficult or inconvenient; and 

C. That the vacation will not hinder the public’s access to a church, school, or other 

public building or place; and 

D. That the vacation will not hinder the use of a public way by the neighborhood in 

which it is located or to which it is contiguous; and  

E. That one or more public utilities are currently occupying and using all or part of 

area; and 

F. That this proposed vacation shall neither diminish nor deprive such public utilities’ 

right to use all or part of the vacated area and an easement for the same shall continue, the 

vacation notwithstanding. 

Section 2. Subject to any public utility easements, the public property specifically 

described in Exhibit A and depicted in Exhibit B, attached hereto, is hereby vacated. 

Section 3. Pursuant to Indiana Code 36-7-3-14 (a), the vacated area being part of 

platted land, the descriptions of the lots and parcels of that land shall be preserved as set forth in 

the plat, with the proportionate parts of the vacated area added to the adjacent lots and parcels, as 

provided by law, unless all the owners of land in the vacated area consent in writing to the 

description of the area by: 

(1) the method used before the plat was made; 

(2) metes and bounds; or 

(3) other appropriate description. 

Section 4. The Clerk shall furnish a copy of this Ordinance to the Elkhart County 

Recorder for recording and to the Elkhart County Auditor. 



 
Page 4 of 9 

Section 5. This Ordinance shall be in effect from and after its passage by the Common 

Council and approval by the Mayor according to law.  

[Exhibits to follow:] 



 
Page 5 of 9 

Exhibit A 

Description of Real Property 

Legal Description: 
 
The 16-1/2 foot-wide alley lying between Lafayette street and Indiana Avenue, running 
from the east line of Thomas Street east to the west line of Fremont Street, as shown on the 
Plat of Hiram D. Thomas Estate Addition in the City of Elkhart, said plat being recorded 
in Deed Record 103, Page 287 in the Office of the Recorder of Elkhart County, Indiana.  

TOGETHER WITH:  

The 16 foot-wide alley lying west of and adjacent to Lots 36 through 44, both inclusive, as 
shown on the Plat of Hiram D. Thomas Estate Addition in the City of Elkhart, said plat 
being recorded in Deed Record 103, Page 287 in the Office of the Recorder of Elkhart 
County.  

 
Parcel Identification Number(s) Adjacent to Vacated Public Way: 

20-06-07-282-001.000-012 
20-06-07-282-002.000-012 
20-06-07-282-003.000-012 
20-06-07-282-009.000-012 
20-06-07-282-011.000-012 
20-06-07-282-012.000-012 
20-06-07-282-013.000-012 
20-06-07-282-014.000-012 
20-06-07-282-015.000-012 
20-06-07-282-016.000-012 
20-06-07-282-017.000-012 
20-06-07-282-018.000-012  
20-06-07-282-019.000-012 



 
Page 6 of 9 

Exhibit B 

Depiction of Public Way of Vacation Ordinance 

 

  



 
Page 7 of 9 

ORDAINED this _______ day of _________________, ______. 
 
     ______________________________________ 
     Arvis Dawson 
     President of the Common Council 

 
ATTEST: 

 
By: ___________________________________ 
 Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, on this _____ 
day of ________________, ______, personally appeared Arvis Dawson in his capacity as 
President of the Elkhart Common Council and Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City 
Clerk and acknowledged the execution of the foregoing Ordinance No. _________ as the duly 
authorized act of the Common Council of the City of Elkhart, Indiana for the purposes stated 
therein.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 
 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
 

SEAL 



 
Page 8 of 9 

PRESENTED to the Mayor by me this ________ day of ___________, ______, at  
  a.m./p.m. 
 
 
     _______________________________________ 
     Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
 APPROVED by me this ____ day of _______________________, ______. 
 
 
     _________________________________________ 
     Rod Roberson, Mayor for the City of Elkhart 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk  
 

 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, on this _____ 
day of ________________, ______, personally appeared Rod Roberson in his capacity as Elkhart 
City Mayor and Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City Clerk and acknowledged the 
execution of the foregoing Ordinance No. ______ as the duly authorized act of the Mayor of the 
City of Elkhart, Indiana for the purposes stated therein.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 
 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 

SEAL 



 
Page 9 of 9 

EXECUTED AND DELIVERED in my presence: 
 
___________________________  
Debra D. Barrett, Elkhart City Clerk 
 
 
STATE OF INDIANA ) 

)  § 
COUNTY OF ELKHART ) 
 

Before me, Angela McKee, Notary Public in and for said County and State, personally 
appeared Debra D. Barrett in her capacity as Elkhart City Clerk, who being personally known to 
me as the Elkhart City Clerk, and whose name is subscribed as a witness to the foregoing 
instrument, being duly sworn by me, deposes and says that the foregoing instrument was executed 
and delivered by Arvis Dawson, as President of the Elkhart Common Council and Rod Roberson, 
as Mayor of the City of Elkhart, in the above-named subscribing witness’s presence, and that the 
above-named subscribing witness is a disinterested person as defined by law.  

 
Witness my hand and Notarial Seal this _________ day of _______________________, 

______. 

___________________________  
Angela McKee, Notary Public 
Resident of Elkhart County 
My Commission Number: NP0738730 
My Commission Expires: January 25, 2030 
 

 

This document was prepared by John M. Espar, Attorney No. 20758-46, as Corporation Counsel 
for the City of Elkhart, 229 S. Second Street, Elkhart, Indiana 46516. I affirm, under the penalties 
for perjury, that I have taken reasonable care to redact each Social Security number in this 
document, unless required by law.  John M. Espar 

 

SEAL 













































 
Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-01 

 
 
 
 
 
 

M E M O R A N D U M  
 
DATE: January 29, 2025. 
 
TO: Common Council  
    
FROM: John M. Espar, Corporation Counsel  
 
RE: Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-01 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 
HONORING FIREFIGHTER ADAM J. KUSPA FOR HIS ACHIEVEMENTS AND HIS 
CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE ELKHART COMMUNITY 

 
 

 

Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-01 has been prepared at the request of Council President Dawson 
for consideration by the full Council to honor firefighter Adam J. Kuspa for his service, dedication 
and contributions to the firefighting profession and community of the City of Elkhart.  



 

 

Proposed Resolution No. 25-R-01 

 
RESOLUTION NO. R-    

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA 
HONORING FIREFIGHTER ADAM J. KUSPA FOR HIS DEDICATION, SERVICE, AND 
CONTRIBUTION TO THE ELKHART CITY FIRE DEPARTMENT AND COMMUNITY 

         

WHEREAS, Captain Adam J. Kuspa passed away on January 6, 2025, an active member 

of the City of Elkhart, Indiana, Department of Fire; and  

WHEREAS, Captain Kuspa was a dedicated firefighter with more than twenty-six (26) 

years of experience, serving fire departments of Portage Township, Warren Township, Clay Fire 

Territory, and the University of Notre Dame, before joining the City of Elkhart Fire Department, 

in 2006; and  

 WHEREAS, during his tenure with the Elkhart City Fire Department Captain Kuspa was 

instrumental in establishing and leading the technical rescue team. He served as a shift trainer for 

all front-line firefighters and was a lead instructor at the training academy. He was promoted 

through the ranks of the Elkhart Fire Department merit system from Firefighter to Engineer, 

Engineer to Lieutenant, ultimately being promoted to the rank of the Captain of Rescue 1; and 

 WHEREAS, Captain Kuspa’s contribution to the fire fighter profession was not limited to 

the City of Elkhart. As a member of the Mutual Aid Box Alarm System (MABAS) 201, he was 

deployed to Henryville, Indiana, and Havelock, North Carolina, to assist those communities in 

their time of need. He taught at O'Byrne Fireground Training, where he conducted courses in 

forcible entry, engine and truck operations, and machine extrication across the country. In Illinois, 

he presented training programs for Duty, Pride, and Traditions, focusing on rescuing firefighters 

from hazardous environments; and. 



   

WHEREAS, Adam was pivotal to the success of the Lake Effect Fire Conference, held in 

South Bend, and served as Vice-President of the Michiana Fraternal Order of Leatherhead Society. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COMMON COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF ELKHART, INDIANA, that the Common Council hereby recognizes the dedication, 

service, and contributions of Captain Adam J Kuspa to the City of Elkhart, Indiana, the community 

of Elkhart, and the firefighting profession. 

The foregoing is passed and adopted by the Common Council this 3rd day of February 

2025. 

________________________ 
       Arvis Dawson 
       President of the Common Council 
 

 
____________________________  ___________________________ 
Councilman Alex Holtz    Councilman Chad Crabtree 
 
 
____________________________  ___________________________ 
Councilman Brent Curry   Councilman Aaron Mishler 
 
 
__________________________  ___________________________ 
Councilman Dwight Fish    Councilwoman LaTonya King 
 
 
____________________________  ___________________________ 
Councilwoman Tonda Hines   Councilman David Henke 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 

____________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

  



 
 
 

Presented to the Mayor by me this 3rd day of February 2025. 
 
 
      _____________________________ 
      Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 
 

Approved by me this 3rd day of February 2025. 
 

 
      _______________________ 

 _______________    Rod Roberson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________ 
Debra D. Barrett, City Clerk 

































































































   

Rod Roberson  574.293.2175 

Mayor  Fax: 574.294.5530 

   

Dustin McLain  Elkhart City Communications 

Department Head  135 East Franklin Street 

  Elkhart, Indiana 46516 

 

  
 
Date:  January 15, 2025   

 

To:  Mayor Rod Roberson 

  Elkhart City Board of Public Safety 

  Common Council 

   

From:  Dustin McLain, Department Head 

  Elkhart Communications Center 

 

Re:  December 2024 Month End Report 

 

We processed 7,178 incoming & outgoing emergency and non-emergency phone calls.  This was a 

decrease of 701 calls from December of 2023.  Below is a summary of the calls we handled in 

Communications. 

  

 

By shift, we entered 7,251 calls into the CAD, an increase of 922 calls from December of 2023.  Below is a 

breakdown of the call volume by shift. 

 

*Other Calls refers to calls made to communications that either required a response by other departments, such as 

Parks Dept., Street Dept., etc. This also includes calls that are dispatched out as attempts to locate, repossessions 

and/or private impounds.  

 

OTHER BUSINESS 

• For the month of December 2023 we handled 29 AUDIO REQUESTS for the Prosecutor’s Office and 

Police Dept.   We provided 10 (FOIA) Public Records Requests to individuals.    

 

CALL SOURCES 
911  

*This includes Landlines, Wireless, VoIP, 

TexTTY, and abandoned.* (as reported by 

INDigital State reporting online)   

Administrative 

(non-emergency) 

TOTAL 

(including outbound) 

 1826 5352 7178 

2023 TOTALS 1950 5929 7879 

  POLICE CALLS FIRE CALLS OTHER TOTALS 

Day Shift 2198 349 346 2893 

Afternoon Shift 1876 387 301 2564 

Midnight Shift 1522 173 99 1794 

All Shifts 5596 909 746 7251 

2023 Totals 4790 822 717 6329 


	AGENDA for February 3, 2025 City Council Meeting
	Minutes of January 6, 2025 Council Meeting
	Proposed Ordinance 25-O-01
	Proposed Ordinance 25-O-02
	Proposed Ordinance 25-O-03-R
	Proposed Ordinance 25-O-04
	Proposed Ordinance 25-O-05
	Proposed Ordinance 25-O-06
	Proposed Resolution 25-R-01
	Minutes of December 10, 2024 Aurora Capital Development Commission
	Minutes of December 10, 2024 Board of Public Safety
	Minutes of December 27, 2024 Board of Public Safety
	Minutes of January 7, 2025 Board of Public Works
	Minutes of November 14, 2024 Board of Zoning Appeals
	Minutes of November 21, 2024 Elkhart Historic & Cultural Preservation Commission
	Minutes of December 10, 2024 Elkhart Redevelopment Commission
	Minutes of October ,21, 2024 Elkhart Urban Enterprise Zone
	Minutes of December 16, 2024 Elkhart Urban Enterprise Zone
	Minutes of December 11, 2024 Lerner Theatre Board
	Report - December Month End - Elkhart Communications Center



